IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)	
)	
Plaintiff–Appellee,)	
)	
v.)	S.CT. NO. 19–1159
)	
DAQUON BOLDON,)	
)	
Defendant–Appellant.)	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY
HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE (Sentencing)

APPELLANT’S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY
Assistant Appellate Defender
mconroy@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY’S FOR DEFENDANT–APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. SHOULD THE SENATE FILE 589 AMENDMENTS TO IOWA CODE CHAPTER 814 AFFECT THE DEFENDANT'S APPEAL?

Authorities

Iowa Code § 814.6(1) (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

State v. Macke, 933 N.W.2d 225, 227 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 4.13 (2019)

Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Serv., 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)

Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State, 915 N.W.2d 206, 212 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Const. art. V, § 1

Franklin v. Bonner, 207 N.W. 778, 779 (Iowa 1926)

Iowa Const. art. V, § 4

In re Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576, 577 (Iowa 1988)

Laird Brothers v. Dickerson, 40 Iowa 665, 670 (1875)

Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242, 244–45 (Iowa 1997)

In re Durant Comm. Sch. Dist., 106 N.W.2d 670, 676
(Iowa 1960)

Wissenberg v. Bradley, 229 N.W. 205, 209 (Iowa 1929)

McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687–88 (1894)

Cassandra Burke Robinson, The Right to Appeal, 91 N.C. L.
Rev. 1219, 1221 (2013)

Marc M. Arkin, Rethinking the Constitutional Right to an
Appeal, 39 UCLA L. Rev. 503 (1992)

Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 756 n. 1 (1983)
(Brennan, J., dissenting)

In re Chambers, 152 N.W.2d 818, 820 (Iowa 1967)

Waldon v. District Court of Lee Cnty., 130 N.W.2d 728, 731
(Iowa 1964)

Iowa Code § 602.4102(2) (2019)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 875–76 (Iowa 2009)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6

State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656, 661 (Iowa 2019)

City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 439–41 (1985)

Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 374 (1986)

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963)

United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 654 (1984)

Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 395 (1985)

State v. Kress, 636 N.W.2d 12, 20 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Delano, 161 N.W.2d 66, 72–73 (Iowa 1968)

Senate Video 2019-03-28 at 1:49:10–1:49:20, statements of Senator Dawson, available at <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20190328125735925&dt=2019-03-28&offset=3054&bill=SF%20589&status=i>

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 616 (2004)

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

State v. Lopez, 872 N.W.2d 159, 169–70 (Iowa 2015)

Wiborg v. United States, 163 U.S. 632, 658 (1896)

Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 17–18 (1956)

Rinaldi v. Yeager, 384 U.S. 305, 310 (1966)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019)

Iowa Civil Liberties Union v. Critelli, 244 N.W.2d 564, 568–69 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Tesch, 704 N.W.2d 440, 451–52 (Iowa 2005)

Cause, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33 (2017)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.977 (2017)

Iowa Code § 322A.2 (2019)

Iowa Code § 322A.15 (2019)

Iowa Code § 915.84(1) (2017)

State v. Winters, 690 N.W.2d 903, 907–08 (Iowa 2005)

Wilson v. Ribbens, 678 N.W.2d 417, 420–21 (Iowa 2004)

Simmons v. State Pub. Defender, 791 N.W.2d 69, 74
(Iowa 2010)

U.S. Const. amend. V

Billotti v. Legursky, 975 F.2d 113, 115 (4th Cir. 1992)

State v. Weitzel, 905 N.W.2d 397, 402 (Iowa 2017)

Utah R. Crim. P. 11(e)(8) (2019)

Iowa Code § 822.2(1) (2017)

Gibb v. Hansen, 286 N.W.2d 180, 188 (Iowa 1979)

Farrell v. Iowa Dist. Court, 747 N.W.2d 789, 790–92
(Iowa Ct. App. 2008)

II. SHOULD THE COURT REMAND FOR A NEW SENTENCING HEARING BECAUSE THE STATE BREACHED THE PLEA AGREEMENT?

Authorities

Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129 (2009)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 466–67 (1997)

United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732 (1993)

State v. Lopez, 872 N.W.2d 159, 170 (Iowa 2015)

Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 260–61 (1971)

State v. Bearse, 748 N.W.2d 211, 215 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Horness, 600 N.W.2d 294, 298 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.10(2) (2017)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(c) (2017)

State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141, 149 (Iowa 2003)

United States v. Brown, 500 F.2d 375, 377 (4th Cir. 1974)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Brothorn, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Code § 814.7(2) (2017)

State v. Liddell, 672 N.W.2d 805, 809 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Fannon, 799 N.W.2d 515, 520 (Iowa 2011)

United States v. Atkinson, 297 U.S. 157, 160 (1936)

Jon M. Woodruff, Note, Plain Error by Another Name: Are Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims a Suitable Alternative to Plain Error Review in Iowa?, 102 Iowa L. Rev. 1811, 1815 (May 2017)

Wiborg v. United States, 163 U.S. 532, 658–59 (1896)

Fed. R. Crim. P. 52 (2019)

Wayne R. LaFave et al., 7 Criminal Procedure, § 27.5(d) (4th ed. Nov. 2018)

Tory A. Weigand, Raise or Lose: Appellate Discretion and Principled Decision-Making, 17 Suffolk J. Trial & App. Advoc. 179, 199–241 (2012)

State v. Macke, No. 18–0839, 2019 WL 1300432, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 20, 2019), overruled by 933 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999)

State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)

Rhoades v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 33–34 (Iowa 2014)
(Mansfield, J., concurring specially)

State v. Sahinovic, No. 15–0737, 2016 WL 1683039, at *2
(Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2016) (McDonald, J., concurring)
(unpublished table decision)

State v. Hall, No. 11–1524, 2012 WL 4900426, at *2 n.1 (Iowa
Ct. App. Oct. 17, 2012) (Tabor, J.) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Johnson, 272 N.W.2d 480, 484 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Rinehart, 283 N.W.2d 319, 324 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Coil, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978)

Iowa Code § 814.20 (2017)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa Const. art V, § 4

State v. Dahl, 874 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Miller, 223 P.3d 157, 165, 172 (Haw. 2010)

State v. Macke, 933 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2019)

**III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR BY
CONSIDERING AND RELYING ON IMPROPER FACTORS
WHEN RENDERING THE DEFENDANT’S SENTENCE?**

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 434–35 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Ohnmacht, 342 N.W.2d 838, 842–43 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907 (2017)

State v. Formaro, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Witham, 583 N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Wright, 340 N.W.2d 590, 592 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa Code § 901.5 (2017)

Iowa Code § 232.55 (2017)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 67 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 395 (Iowa 2014)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 480 (2012)

Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115–17 (1982)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545, 556 (Iowa 2015)

In re A.K., 825 N.W.2d 46, 51 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871, n.1 (Iowa 2009)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 97 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Matlock, No. 04–0405, 2005 WL 1958370, at *2
(Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2005) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Buck, 275 N.W.2d 194, 195 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Hajtic, No. 15–0404, 2015 WL 6508691, at *3–4
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2015) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Ashley, 462 N.W.2d 279, 282 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Gonzalez, 582 N.W.2d 515, 517 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Lovell, 857 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 2014)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Defendant–Appellant Daquon Boldon appeals after he pled guilty and was subsequently sentenced on July 1, 2019. Boldon requests the Iowa Supreme Court retain this case because it presents substantial constitutional questions regarding the validity of Senate File 589’s amendments to Iowa Code sections 814.6(1) and 814.7. These arguments also raise substantial issues of first impression and fundamental issues of broad public importance that require ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. See Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2) (a), (c)–(d) (2019).

Additionally, the Court should retain this case to address the Boldon’s request that the Court adopt plain-error review. Id. While the Iowa Supreme Court has historically declined to adopt a formal plain-error doctrine, this rejection has coexisted with the Court’s ability to nevertheless redress plain and prejudicial unpreserved errors on direct appeal under an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel framework where the record was adequate. Compare State v. Johnson, 272 N.W.2d 480,

484 (Iowa 1978), with State v. Coil, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978). If Iowa Code section 814.7 now prevents appellate courts from redressing even plain and substantial errors on direct appeal under an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel rubric despite an adequate record, there is a substantial need for this Court to recognize plain-error review for clear errors that “seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 467 (1997).

Moreover, the Court’s guidance is needed on the question of what limitations exist on a sentencing court’s consideration of defendant’s juvenile criminal history. Recent case law has made clear that children are deemed constitutionally different for purposes of sentencing. Certain mitigating considerations of youth necessarily and universally attend juvenile criminal conduct. State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 389 (2014). However, Iowa appellate courts have not yet determined what limits such realities impose upon a sentencing court’s consideration of the *juvenile* criminal history of an offender in adult court.

Boldon respectfully urges that juvenile criminal history does not shed its mitigated character merely because the offender is now in adult court. The vulnerabilities of youth that attended such juvenile criminal conduct continue to inhere in those juvenile adjudications. Juvenile criminal history should thus not be treated the same way or given the same weight as adult criminal history. This Court should hold that a sentencing court cannot consider an adult offender's juvenile criminal history without also explicitly recognizing the mitigating features of youth attending such juvenile adjudications.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Boldon appeals following his convictions, judgment, and sentence imposed following his guilty pleas to possession of a firearm by a felon, in Black Hawk County District Court Case No. FECR226296, and to interference with official acts with a firearm and carrying weapons, in Black Hawk County District Court Case No. FECR226943.

Course of Proceedings: In FECR226296, on August 10, 2018, the State charged Boldon with possession of a firearm, a class “D” felony. (FECR226296 Trial Information) (App. p. 4). Subsequently, on September 14, 2018, the State charged Boldon with interference with official acts with a firearm, a class “D” felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 719.1, and carrying weapons, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 724.4(1), in FECR226943. (FECR226943 Trial Information) (App. p. 10). Boldon was arraigned in open court in both cases. (FECR226296 Arraignment & Order; FECR226943 Arraignment & Order) (App. pp. 7–9, 13–15).

On March 25, 2019, Boldon entered guilty pleas to interference with official acts with a firearm and carrying weapons in FECR226943, as well as possession of a firearm by a felon in FECR226296. (FECR226943 Order Following Plea; FECR226296 Order Following Plea) (App. pp. 16–19). In exchange for Boldon’s guilty pleas to the charges, the State would recommend a prison sentence on each count, but it agreed to recommend that all three charges run concurrently

to one another. (Plea Tr. p.6 L.5–p.7 L.6). The defense was free to make its own sentencing recommendations. (Plea Tr. p.6 L.5–p.7 L.6).

At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor stated it was recommending five years in prison on each of the felony counts and two years in prison on the aggravated misdemeanor, with those sentences to run concurrently. The State also recommended the court suspend the minimum fines and make Boldon pay court costs. (Sentencing Tr. p.8 L.3–14). The prosecutor then spoke at length, advocating for a prison sentence. (Sentencing Tr. p.8 L.15–p.10 L.21). Boldon requested the court consider giving him a deferred judgment. (Sentencing Tr. p.10 L.22–p.15 L.11). After giving Boldon the right to speak, the district court sentenced him to an indeterminate term not to exceed five years on each of the class “D” felonies and an indeterminate term not to exceed two years on the aggravated misdemeanor. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.10–20) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 21–22). The court imposed the prison sentences and ordered the sentences for

felonies to run consecutive with each other but concurrent to the misdemeanor for a total of ten years in prison.

(Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.19–20, p.19 L.2–4) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 22).

It also assessed a \$750 fine and criminal surcharge for each of the felony counts but then ordered them suspended; it ordered a \$625 fine and criminal surcharge for the misdemeanor but also suspended it as well. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.10–11) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 22). The district court found Boldon did not have the reasonable ability to pay restitution for court-appointed attorney fees or court costs. (Sentencing Tr. p.16 L.21–p.17 L.4) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23–24). Lastly, the court ordered Boldon to submit a DNA sample. (Sentencing Tr. p.17 L.7–8) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 23).

Boldon timely filed a notice of appeal in each case on July 5, 2019. (Notice) (App. p. 26).

Facts: During the guilty plea proceeding, Boldon admitted that, on August 2, 2018, in Black Hawk County, he

was travelling in a vehicle on which a Waterloo police officer conducted a traffic stop. (Plea Tr. p.12 L.9–p.13 L.3). Boldon admitted to fleeing the vehicle and running from the police officer, while carrying a .45 caliber Smith & Wesson pistol. (Plea Tr. p.13 L.4–p.15 L.10). Boldon also admitted that he had prior juvenile adjudications for conduct that would have been a felony if he was an adult when committed, which prohibited him from legally carrying a firearm. (Plea Tr. p.11 L.19–p.12 L.8).

Any additional relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SENATE FILE 589 AMENDMENTS TO IOWA CODE CHAPTER 814 SHOULD NOT AFFECT THE DEFENDANT’S APPEAL.

On July 1, 2019, Senate File 589 went into effect. The legislation made several changes to the Iowa Code, including several affecting criminal appeals. In particular, Senate File 589 amended Iowa Code section 814.6(1) to only grant a right of appeal from a final judgment of sentence from “[a] conviction where the defendant has pled guilty” to a class “A”

felony or in cases “where the defendant establishes good cause.” Iowa Code § 814.6(1) (2019). Additionally, it amended section 814.7, stating that ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims “shall not be decided on direct appeal from the criminal proceedings.” Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019). Boldon entered a guilty plea prior to the amendments but was sentenced on July 1, 2019.

A. The amendments of Senate File 589 should not apply to criminal defendants, like Boldon, that entered guilty pleas prior to July 1, 2019.

Senate File 589 went into effect on July 1, 2019. State v. Macke, 933 N.W.2d 225, 227 (Iowa 2019). The amendments do not contain language that they apply retroactively to guilty pleas, like Boldon’s, that were accepted prior to July 1, 2019. See id. at 233. Thus, in the absence of such language, the Court should find they do not apply. See id. Moreover, Iowa Code’s general savings provision also renders the amendment to Iowa Code chapter 814 inapplicable to defendants such as Boldon who have pleaded guilty before the law went into effect. It provides:

1. The reenactment, revision, amendment, or repeal of a statute does not affect any of the following:
 - a. The prior operation of the statute or any prior action taken under the statute.
 - b. Any validation, cure, right, privilege, obligation, or liability previously acquired, accrued, accorded, or incurred under the statute.
 - c. Any violation of the statute or penalty, forfeiture, or punishment incurred in respect to the statute, prior to the amendment or repeal.
 - d. Any investigation, proceeding, or remedy in respect of any privilege, obligation, liability, penalty, forfeiture, or punishment; and the investigation, proceeding, or remedy may be instituted, continued, or enforced, and the penalty, forfeiture, or punishment imposed, as if the statute had not been repealed or amended.

Iowa Code § 4.13 (2019). Before the enactment of Senate File 589, Boldon had the right to appeal his plea, judgment, and sentence on direct appeal. He was not informed that he would no longer have that right come July 1, 2019. Moreover, he was originally scheduled to be sentenced on May 30, 2019, but there were several continuances, including the last one, which was filed by the *prosecutor*, and resulting in the sentencing being held on July 1, 2019. (Mot. Continue) (App. p. 20). Boldon's rights had vested and cannot be retroactively removed by a statutory amendment; it is unfair that a series of

continuances, including that by the opposing party, can place him in a worse position. Therefore, for the reasons stated above, the Court should find that the amendments of Senate File 589 to chapter 814 have no application to this appeal.

B. Even if the amendments of Senate File 589 apply to Boldon’s direct appeal, they should be invalidated for improperly restricting the role and jurisdiction of Iowa’s appellate courts.

Issues of retrospective and prospective application aside, Boldon contends the changes to Section 814.7 improperly interfere with the separation of powers, with this Court’s jurisdiction, and with the Court’s role in addressing constitutional violations. “The separation-of-powers doctrine is violated ‘if one branch of government purports to use powers that are clearly forbidden, or attempts to use powers granted by the constitution to another branch.’” Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Serv., 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002) (quoting State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)). The doctrine means that one branch of government may not impair another branch in “the performance of its

constitutional duties.” Id. Recently, the Iowa Supreme Court examined the judicial branch’s role within Iowa’s “venerable system of government”:

The Iowa Constitution, like its federal counterpart, establishes three separate, yet equal, branches of government. Our constitution tasks the legislature with making laws, the executive with enforcing the laws, and the judiciary with construing and applying the laws to cases brought before the courts.

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