# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-1159

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

DAQUON BOLDON, Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALYRYMPLE, JUDGE

#### APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

#### SHARON K. HALL

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) sharon.hall@ag.iowa.gov

BRIAN WILLIAMS Black Hawk County Attorney

BRAD WALZ Assistant Black Hawk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

#

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

Further, Boldon points to the lack of notice prior to the date of sentencing that his appeal rights may be limited. While it is true Boldon was not specifically offered an opportunity to withdraw his guilty pleas at the July 1 hearing, the sentencing court did in fact mention the July 1 change in the law following the pronouncement of sentence may affect his right to appeal. Sent. Tr.p.19, line 25-p.20, line 14. Neither Boldon nor defense counsel questioned or objected to the court's statement regarding appeal.

In any regard, if the appeal advisory is deemed defective, the defendant should be required to satisfy the new, more searching standard in new section 814.29 to obtain appellate review or relief. It is unlikely any defendant would know or care about the difference between appeal as a matter of right, good cause review, discretionary

review, certiorari, and postconviction relief. A defendant can still apply for or initiate proceedings for review by a higher tribunal after July 1, 2019. In fact, "application" is the operative noun for seeking discretionary review, which means "apply" is the correct verb. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.106. The colloquy thus did not mislead the defendant: it told him he could try to get review if he complied with jurisdictional deadlines, and that is still the case, particularly given that this Court's rules permit the Court to "treat the documents upon which the action was initiated as seeking the proper form of review." Iowa R. App. P. 6.108.

To the extent the defendant is indirectly asserting some kind of reliance interest on the advisory, this claim is misplaced. A guilty plea is intended as a "lid on the box" that prevents review of nearly all errors. *See Kyle*, 322 N.W.2d at 304. It is not rational to believe that this defendant, or any defendant, pled guilty with a certainty that he could obtain appellate review and reversal. A defendant who does so under our procedural system would demand a trial on the minutes, not enter a guilty plea. The State submits the record does not show that the advisory here had any effect on Boldon's decision to plead.

As discussed above, neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court have found any constitutional provision compels appeal for a criminal conviction, let alone a conviction obtained by guilty plea. See Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 18 (1956) ("[A] State is not required by the Federal Constitution to provide appellate courts or a right to appellate review at all."); e.g., Olsen, 162 N.W. at 782 ("The right of appeal is purely statutory."). Moreover, the defendant still has the opportunity to obtain post-judgment review of a guilty plea, although potentially in a forum other than the appellate courts: he can apply for "good cause" appellate review or discretionary review, move to correct an illegal sentence in the district court or petition for certiorari in the appellate courts, and he can file a postconviction relief action, which is itself appealable to the appellate courts. This scheme of post-plea review is more than sufficient to satisfy any concerns about constitutional due process.

## D. Good Cause.

Lastly, Boldon argues that if section 814.6 applies to his appeal the Court should find good cause to grant review. Appellant's Brief pp.48-56. Boldon urges this Court to interpret "good cause" broadly to include any colorable or non-frivolous claim and without requiring a defendant to show he or she would likely prevail on the merits. The State disagrees the legislature intended such a low bar. The statutory amendments enacted in SF589 were aimed at reducing congestion in the appellate courts and to encourage efficient use of appellate resources by limiting the Court's jurisdiction to only those guilty plea challenges that are likely meritorious and cannot be resolved before other tribunals. *See* 2019 Iowa Acts ch.140 §§ 28, 31 (codified at Iowa Code §§ 814.6(1), 814.7 (2020)).

As noted, the amendments provide that when a criminal defendant pleads guilty, direct appellate review is available only if a criminal defendant can show "good cause" or if they seek discretionary review of a denied motion in arrest of judgment. *See* Iowa Code §§ 814.6(1)(a)(3), 814.6(2)(f) (2020). The amendments shift all ineffective assistance claims, including those related to a guilty plea, from the appellate courts to postconviction proceedings in the district courts. *See* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020). Existing law permits litigation of illegal sentence challenges in the district court "at any time," and in the appellate courts by certiorari. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a); *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 97. Notably, Boldon's asserted "sentencing challenge" arises from defense counsel's failure to raise

the State's alleged breaches of the plea agreement involving sentencing recommendations—for which the remedy is a new sentencing hearing before a different judge with specific performance of the agreed upon recommendation. The State alternatively addresses the merits of Boldon's underlying Sixth Amendment claims below in division II.

With respect to the appropriate standard, the State argues good cause means that the defendant has raised an extraordinary legal claim that cannot be addressed elsewhere in the criminal justice system. A possible example is a preserved challenge to a defendant's competency to plead guilty. Interpreting "good cause" to mean "nonfrivolous" would undermine all other appellate changes in SF589, directly conflicting with the intent of the legislation. See Horner v. State Bd. of Eng'g Examiners, 110 N.W.2d 371, 374 (Iowa 1961) ("[I]n determining the meaning of a statute all provisions of the act of which it is a part, and other pertinent statutes, must be considered."). Finding "good cause" encompasses all "non-frivolous" claims would also render the addition of section 814.6(2)(f) superfluous—there would be no reason to establish discretionary review for denial of a motion in arrest of judgment if the appellate courts automatically

acquired jurisdiction of every "non-frivolous" guilty plea challenge. See Town of Mechanicsville v. State Appeal Bd., 111 N.W.2d 317, 320 (Iowa 1961) ("A cardinal rule of statutory construction is that, if reasonably possible, effect should be given every part of a statute."). This is not a claim that cannot otherwise be addressed. This Court should find the General Assembly intended to define good cause narrowly in this context.

II. The Court Should Not Adopt a Plain Error Standard to Allow Review of Ineffective Assistance Claims on Direct Appeal. If this Court Reviews the Defendant's Ineffective Assistance Claims of Alleged Breaches of the Plea Agreement, it Will Find Such Claims Without Merit.

#### **Plain Error**

If this Court applies the amended statutes to Boldon's case to bar consideration of his ineffective assistance claims on direct appeal, Boldon invites the Court to adopt the plain error rule. Appellant's Brief pp.68-79; see Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(b). It has in the past unequivocally held that it will not. See, e.g., State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999) ("We do not subscribe to the plain error rule in Iowa, have been persistent and resolute in rejecting it, and are not at all inclined to yield on the point.") (citing State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)); see also State v. Martin, 877

N.W.2d 859, 866 (Iowa 2016) (citing cases); State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226, 234 (Iowa 2002) ("We reject the defendants' suggestion that the importance and gravity of an unpreserved constitutional issue creates an exception to our error preservation rules."); State v. Miles, 344 N.W.2d 231, 233 (Iowa 1984) ("We do not have a plain error rule."). Under a plain error standard an appellant must establish (1) an error; (2) the error is "clear or obvious, rather than subject to reasonable dispute;" (3) such error "affected the appellant's substantial rights," meaning "it affected the outcome" of the trial court proceedings; and (4) "the error seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." United States v. Marcus, 560 U.S. 258, 262 (2010) (citations omitted).

The change to section 814.7 does not support adopting a plain error rule. The statutory change itself addresses a problem this Court has recognized—that addressing claims of unpreserved error on direct appeal is nearly always premature. *See Straw*, 709 N.W.2d at 138 ("In only rare cases will the defendant be able to muster enough evidence to prove prejudice without a postconviction relief hearing."). Moreover, Boldon and other defendants are precluded from

challenging most guilty pleas on direct appeal even if this Court did recognize plain error. *See* Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2019).

There is no true gap in the Court's ability to redress wrongs from the failure to preserve error. Between the correction of preserved errors on direct appeal and the presentation of ineffective assistance claims in postconviction proceedings with a corresponding right to appeal, criminal defendants in Iowa will continue to have their claims fully addressed and reviewed. Under a plain error analysis, the defense lawyer would be subject to a finding that his or her misstep was "obvious" or "clear under the current law at the time it was made," which is essentially the same criticism of counsel's judgment or performance. *See United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993).

Iowa's ineffective assistance framework already mirrors the plain error framework that the defendant proposes—it requires a showing of error (breach) and substantial resultant effect (prejudice). See, e.g., State v. Yaw, 398 N.W.2d 803, 805 (Iowa 1987) (rejecting plain error standard, and suggesting that if true, "failure to lodge the confrontation objection constituted deficient performance by counsel and resulted in prejudice to the defendant, the issue would be

properly raised and preserved by a post-trial claim of ineffective assistance of counsel"). Moreover, Iowa's ineffective assistance framework—unlike the plain error standard—does not require showing an impact on "the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings"—which strikes the State as a nebulous and unworkably vague standard for determining whether to grant relief.

Further, the rubric of ineffective assistance does not leave the decision whether to grant relief within the discretion of the court once the required showing has been made. *See Olano*, 507 U.S. at 732, 736-37. As such, Iowa's current ineffective assistance framework makes relief *more* accessible and predictable by simplifying the required showing. Boldon's argument that adopting a plain error rule would enhance Iowa courts' ability to remedy trial errors should be rejected.

In advocating for plain error, Boldon also urges that justice delayed may be justice denied, suggesting that postconviction proceedings may drag on for extended periods of time. Appellant's Brief pp.54-55,78-79. Yet, there is no systemic reason for a slow-moving postconviction case. Nothing in chapter 822 prevents the expeditious resolution of a postconviction claim, and some claims can

be resolved within a matter of months. The appellate process can be a lengthy one, and it is less capable of compression than district court proceedings given the various stages of an appeal.

The change to section 814.7 ensures that defendants will proceed directly to postconviction proceedings and the appellate court will have the benefit of a completely developed record when deciding those claims on appeal. As the United States Supreme Court has recognized:

When an ineffective-assistance claim is brought on direct appeal, appellate counsel and the court must proceed on a trial record not developed precisely for the object of litigating or preserving the claim and thus often incomplete or inadequate for this purpose. Under Strickland v. Washington. 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), a defendant claiming ineffective counsel must show that counsel's actions were not supported by a reasonable strategy and that the error was prejudicial. The evidence introduced at trial, however, will be devoted to issues of guilt or innocence, and the resulting record in many cases will not disclose the facts either necessary decide prong to the Strickland analysis. If the alleged error is one of commission, the record may reflect the action taken by counsel but not the reasons for The appellate court may have no way of knowing whether a seemingly unusual or misguided action by counsel had a sound strategic motive or was taken because the counsel's alternatives were even worse.

See Guinan, supra, at 473 (Easterbrook, J., concurring) ("No matter how odd or deficient trial counsel's performance may seem, that lawyer may have had a reason for acting as he did .... Or it may turn out that counsel's overall performance was sufficient despite a glaring omission ..."). The trial record may contain no evidence of alleged errors of omission, much less the reasons underlying them. And evidence of alleged conflicts of interest might be found only attorney-client in correspondence or other documents that, in the typical criminal trial, are not introduced. See, e.g., Billy-Eko, supra, at 114. Without additional factual development, moreover, an appellate court may not be able to ascertain whether the alleged error was prejudicial.

Under the rule we adopt today, ineffective-assistance claims ordinarily will be litigated in the first instance in the district court, the forum best suited to developing the facts necessary to determining the adequacy of representation during an entire trial. The court may take testimony from witnesses for the defendant and the prosecution and from the counsel alleged to have rendered the deficient performance.

Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500, 505 (2003) (emphasis added). Postconviction proceedings remain the best vehicle to litigate ineffective assistance claims. The new legislation is not a reason to adopt plain error in Iowa.

Finally, this court should refuse to adopt a plain error standard for another reason. Respecting the long tradition of requiring error

preservation to reach claims on appeal, the legislature has now acted to ensure that unpreserved claims will be fully litigated in postconviction proceedings rather than on direct appeal. The legislation mandated a process that was followed in the great majority of cases already. See Straw, 709 N.W.2d at 138. To adopt a plain error rule to specifically avoid that result—as Boldon requests—would frustrate the intent of the legislature to require error preservation and ensure complete records and would constitute judicial legislation. See Webster County Bd. Of Supervisors v. Flattery, 268 N.W.2d 869, 873-74 (Iowa 1978) ("We have repeatedly declined to legislate."). To create an exception for plain error resolution on appeal essentially usurps "the prerogative of the legislature to declare what the law shall be." State ex. rel. Lankford, 508 N.W.2d 462, 463 (Iowa 1993). This court should decline Boldon's invitation.

In any regard, for the reasons discussed below, Boldon's ineffective assistance claims fail under either standard because there was no clear or obvious breach of the parties' plea agreement by the prosecutor at sentencing.

## **Preservation of Error and Standards for Review**

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